**RECEIVED**

**Apr 18 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Lower Court Case No. 23-ALJ-30-0335-CC

---

South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs, Respondent,

v.

Lavisha Green, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001652

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
SC Bar No. 101350  
1320 Main Street, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 470-5629  
adam@ruffinappeals.com

Attorney for Lavisha Green

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1.

Whether the ALJ erred in concluding that it lacked the authority to reduce the fine imposed by the Department of Consumer Affairs where South Carolina law explicitly authorizes ALJs to find a statute unconstitutional as applied to the parties before it?

2.

Whether the fine imposed by the Department of Consumer Affairs was unconstitutionally excessive in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order by the ALJ concluding that it lacked the authority to reduce a fine imposed against Lavisha Green<sup>1</sup> by the Department of Consumer Affairs.

The Department imposed a \$9,000 fine against Fab Seven, LLC for failure to timely submit its mortgage log for the 2022 calendar year. On August 8, 2023, Lavisha Green, the sole member of Fab Seven, requested a contested case hearing in the ALC. A hearing was held on November 14, 2023, before the Honorable S. Phillip Lenski. R. 1. The Department was represented by Zachary Passmore and James Copeland. Ms. Green represented herself. R. 1.

After the hearing the ALJ took the matter under advisement and ultimately upheld the Department's decision to impose the \$9,000 fine.

---

<sup>1</sup> The fine imposed by the Department in this case was not against Lavisha Green personally but rather Fab Seven, LLC her mortgage broker business which is a registered LLC in South Carolina. However, the case was captioned in the ALC as "South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs, Petitioner, v. Lavisha Green, Respondent" and thus proceeded as if the fine were imposed against her personally.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Section 1-23-610 (B) of the South Carolina Code provides the standard of review in appeals

from the Administrative Law Court:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lavisha Green's company, Fab Seven, LLC, obtained its mortgage broker license in South Carolina on July 1, 2021, and has continuously been licensed since then. R. 14, ll. 7 – 14.

Kerri Hawley testified on behalf of the Department. Hawley is a licensing attorney for all the Department's regulated industries. R. 13, ll. 2 – 18. Mortgage brokers are one of those regulated industries and part of Hawley's job is to assist mortgage brokers in complying with their regulations. R. 13, l. 19 – 14, l. 2.

Hawley gave a basic overview of the mortgage broker licensing process in her testimony. She explained that mortgage broker licensing is done through a national system called NMLS (Nationwide Multistate Licensing System). R. 14, ll. 15 – 22. Applicants who wish to obtain a license must first apply to NMLS and the Department reviews the applications from there. Hawley testified that "all communication typically regarding a license are through NMLS." R. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 4.

Licensees must submit two annual reports, one of which is a "mortgage log." R. 15, ll. 5 – 11. Hawley testified that the Department's website provides licensees with information and instructions about how to file their mortgage log, along with the deadlines and penalties associated with late or incomplete submissions. R. 16, l. 17 – 17, l. 9; R. 49 – 53. Licensees also must complete training prior to obtaining a license which includes information about the requirement to submit the mortgage log. R. 19, l. 21 – 23, l. 1; R. 53 – 61. Ms. Green completed the training requirements prior to obtaining her license in 2021. R. 25, ll. 14 – 18.

Hawley also testified that the Department sends out "reminder emails" to all licensed mortgage brokers in South Carolina beginning in January of each year. One email is sent in January, February, and March reminding licensees of the deadline. Then a fourth email is sent the

first week of April to any licensee who has missed the deadline. R. 27, ll. 17 – 23. Hawley said that she obtains the email addresses of licensees through the NMLS service and the email addresses on file with the NMLS are submitted by the licensees themselves. R. 36, ll. 1 – 13.

The Department sent its three reminder emails to “realtorlavishagreen@gmail.com” in an attempt to notify Ms. Green of her obligation to file a mortgage log no later than March 31, 2023. These emails were sent on January 23, February 15, and March 14 of 2023. R. 62 – 69. The email on March 14 also included a notice that the failure to submit the mortgage log would result in a fine of \$100 per day that it was late. R. 68 – 69. On April 6, 2023, the Department sent an email to “realtorlavishagreen@gmail.com” advising that it had not received Fab Seven’s mortgage log and that the fine for failing to timely file was \$100 per day. R. 70 – 71. On June 30, 2023, the Department sent an email to this same email address stating that it had imposed a \$9,000 fine against Fab Seven for its failure to file its mortgage log. R. 2. Hawley testified that she never received any notification that the emails were undeliverable. R. 31, ll. 20 – 24. Ms. Green did submit her mortgage logs on time in 2022 for the reporting year of 2021, which was the first year she was required to report. R. 31, l. 25 – 32, l. 2.

Ms. Green testified at the hearing that the continuing education information provided was confusing. R. 38, ll. 12 – 14. She further testified that she had two points of contact with the Department, and she would normally respond immediately when she received information from one of them regarding her license. R. 38, ll. 15 – 23. Ms. Green testified that her email address had changed and that she did not receive the notifications regarding the mortgage log until the Department had already assessed the \$9,000 fine. R. 41, l. 2 – 42, l. 24. When Ms. Green saw the email regarding the \$9,000 fine, she immediately reached out to the Department to see if it could be reduced because it was unreasonable and unfair. R. 39, ll. 3 – 25; R. 72 – 76.

Ms. Green argued to the ALJ that the fine imposed was unreasonable and requested the fine to be reduced. R. 45, l. 16 – 46, l. 8. The ALJ asked the Department if it believed that the Court had the authority to reduce the fine. R. 46, l. 10 – 47, l. 5. The Department responded that it did not believe the statute “gives us the discretion to lower [the] fine without a higher authority.” R. 47, ll. 6 – 14. The ALJ took the matter under advisement.

In its final order the ALJ upheld the Department’s decision to impose a \$9,000 fine against Fab Seven, LLC for failure to timely submit its mortgage log. The ALJ pointed out that the statute which provides for the \$100 per day fine for late mortgage log submissions states that licensees “shall pay a fine of one hundred dollars a day for late or incomplete data submissions.” R. 4.

The ALJ thus concluded: “Though the court is inclined to agree that the monetary penalty imposed in this case for a new licensee with no prior disciplinary infractions seems disproportionate to [Ms. Green’s] conduct in this case . . . the court regrettably finds that it lacks discretion to reduce the penalty.” R. 4. The ALJ further concluded that “it is clear that [Ms. Green’s] omission in this case was due in large part to her inexperience, the court is without discretion to reduce or alter the penalty in any way given the statute’s mandatory language.” R. 5. The ALJ explicitly rejected the Department’s argument that it was unable to reduce the fine based on the statute’s mandatory language:

The Department took the position that it was just enforcing the statute as written and had no authority to deviate from the one hundred dollar (\$100) per day penalty imposed by the statute. While the court’s ability to offer leniency in this case is foreclosed by the mandatory statutory language regarding the penalty, the court rejects the idea that the Department—as the licensing authority in this matter—could not stipulate to a reduced number of days as part of settlement negotiations with [Ms. Green], suspend some portion of the penalty, or offer a long-term payment option to her. Given the facts of this case, [Ms. Green’s] neophyte status and her otherwise clean record, the court encourages the Department to work with [Ms.

Green] so as not to create an unsurmountable financial barrier to her returning to practice as a mortgage broker.

R. 5 fn. 2.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The ALJ erred in concluding that it lacked the authority to reduce the fine imposed by the Department of Consumer Affairs because South Carolina law explicitly authorizes ALJs to find a statute unconstitutional as applied to the parties before it.

Section 40-58-65(A) of the South Carolina Code requires licensed mortgage brokers in South Carolina to submit a mortgage log by March 31<sup>st</sup> of each year. The statute further provides that the “licensee shall pay a fine of one hundred dollars a day for late or incomplete data submissions.” S.C. Code § 40-58-65(A).

In its final order upholding the \$9,000 fine imposed against Ms. Green by the Department, the ALJ concluded that because the statute includes the word “shall,” the ALJ “is without authority to alter the mandatory statutory penalty of one hundred dollars (\$100) a day for late submissions.” The ALJ noted that its conclusion was “regrettabl[e]” because it was “inclined to agree that the monetary penalty imposed in this case for a new licensee with no prior disciplinary infractions seems disproportionate to [Ms. Green’s] conduct in this case.” R. 4.

The ALJ erred in concluding that it did not have the authority to reduce the fine. The argument made by Ms. Green throughout this case was that the fine was excessive in comparison to her conduct. The ALJ appears to have agreed with Ms. Green on that point but nonetheless concluded that it lacked the authority to reduce the fine because of the statute’s mandatory language. The ALJ did have the authority to reduce the fine and therefore its decision was “affected by [an] error of law.” *See* S.C. Code § 1-23-610(B)(d) (allowing this Court to reverse the ALJ when its decision is based on an error of law).

While Ms. Green never uttered the phrase “unconstitutional as applied,” that is the unmistakable import of her arguments to the ALJ. Ms. Green did not ask the ALJ to strike down the entire statute as unconstitutional, but rather asked the ALJ to find that the fine imposed against her was excessive, i.e., that it violated her right to be free from excessive fines under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution. *See State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595 (2010) (“Error preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review”); *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001) (even though the defendant did not use the phrase “corpus delicti” in his request for a directed verdict, the issue was preserved because it was clear from the record that the motion was made on that ground).

“While it is true that ALJs cannot rule on a facial challenge to the constitutionality of a regulation or statute, ALJs can rule on whether a law as applied violates constitutional rights.” *Dorman v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 350 S.C. 159, 171, 565 S.E.2d 119, 126 (Ct. App. 2002). The difference between a facial constitutional challenge and an as-applied constitutional challenge is significant. In a facial constitutional challenge, the challenger asserts that there is no set of circumstances in which the statute is constitutional. In other words, a facial challenge is one that claims the statute violates the constitution in all its conceivable applications and must be struck down in its entirety. An as-applied constitutional challenge on the other hand does not challenge the constitutional validity of the statute itself, but instead involves a claim that when the statute is applied to a particular set of facts, it results in a violation of that person’s constitutional rights. *See Doe v. State*, 421 S.C. 490, 502-03, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017) (explaining the difference between facial and as-applied constitutional challenges to statutes).

In *Travelscape, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 391 S.C. 89, 705 S.E.2d 28 (2011), our Supreme Court clarified the power of an ALJ to adjudicate claims regarding the constitutionality of a statute. Because the ALC is part of the executive branch of government, the Court noted that ALJs do not have the power to determine the *facial* constitutional validity of a statute. However, the Court in *Travelscape* held that “ALCs are empowered to hear as applied challenges to statutes and regulations.” *Id.* at 109, 705 S.E.2d at 39. The Court explained: “ALCs are better suited for making the factual determinations necessary for an as applied challenge, and finding a statute or regulation unconstitutional as applied to a specific party does not affect the facial validity of that provision.” *Id.*

Ms. Green asked the ALJ to show her leniency in the substantial fine assessed against her by the Department, arguing that the fine was excessive and unreasonable as compared to her conduct. R. 45, l. 16 – 46, l. 8. A clear request to the ALJ that the statute was unconstitutional as applied to her. The ALJ agreed with Ms. Green that the fine was excessive in light of all the circumstances presented to it and should have found that the statute was unconstitutional as applied to her. Instead, the ALJ erred in holding that it lacked the authority to hold that a statute is unconstitutional as applied to a particular party before it. Notwithstanding the mandatory language of section 40-58-65(A), an ALJ always has the power to conclude that a particular statute as applied violates a party’s constitutional rights. *See Travelscape*, 391 S.C. 89, 705 S.E.2d 28.

The ALJ erred in concluding it lacked authority to rule on Ms. Green’s as-applied constitutional challenge and this error resulted in Ms. Green’s substantive constitutional rights being prejudiced by imposition of the excessive fine. This Court should reverse the ALJ’s final order under section 1-23-610(B)(d) because the ALJ’s final order was affected by an error of law.

The fine imposed by the Department of Consumer Affairs was unconstitutionally excessive in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution.

The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution both protect people from the imposition of “excessive fines.” U.S. Const. amend. XVIII (“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 15 (“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor shall excessive fines be imposed”). The Excessive Fines Clause of the U.S. Constitution was incorporated against the States in *Timbs v. Indiana*, 586 U.S. 146, 149 (2019). Additionally, the Excessive Fines Clause applies to civil fines—at least when the fine is imposed as punishment. *See Hudson v. United States*, 522 U.S. 93, 103 (1997) (“The Eighth Amendment protects against excessive civil fines, including forfeitures”).

In *United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 324 (1998), the Supreme Court of the United States held that the forfeiture of \$357,144 violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment because it was “grossly disproportional to the gravity of [the] offense” involved in that case: failing to report the transporting of greater than \$10,000 outside of the United States.<sup>2</sup> In *Bajakajian*, the defendant was at the Los Angeles Airport waiting to board a flight to Italy. He was approached by a customs inspector who advised him that he was required to report all money in excess of \$10,000. Bajakajian told the inspector that he had only \$8,000 and his wife had \$7,000. However, upon a search of his bags, the inspectors found \$357,144. *Id.*

---

<sup>2</sup> Congress later amended the statute at issue in *Bajakajian* in an attempt to supersede the Court’s decision by making the act of smuggling cash a crime instead of the failure to report the cash. *See United States v. Jose*, 499 F.3d 105 (1st Cir. 2007) (detailing the legislative history subsequent to *Bajakajian*). The amendment had no bearing on the Court’s central holding that fines are unconstitutionally excessive if they are grossly disproportionate to the offense conduct.

Bajakajian pleaded guilty to failing to report the money but challenged the forfeiture of the full amount. *Id.* at 325. The District Court found that the entire amount was subject to forfeiture. However, the Court only ordered Bajakajian to forfeit \$15,000 because the forfeiture of the full amount would have been “extraordinarily harsh” and “grossly disproportionate to the offense in question.” *Id.* at 325-26.

The Supreme Court in *Bajakajian* noted that “[t]he touchstone of the constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of proportionality: The amount of the forfeiture must bear some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is designed to punish.” *Id.* at 334. The Court then adopted the following standard for determining whether a fine violates the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment: “If the amount of the forfeiture is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant’s offense, it is unconstitutional.” *Id.* at 336. Applying this standard to Bajakajian’s conduct the Court found that the forfeiture of the full \$357,144 was unconstitutionally excessive because the conduct at issue involved a reporting offense which was unrelated to any other illegal activity, and the harm caused by the failure to report was minimal. *Id.* at 336-37.

In *State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-Mcneil-Janssen Pharm.*, 414 S.C. 33, 777 S.E.2d 176 (2015), our Supreme Court considered whether a \$327 million civil penalty imposed against a pharmaceutical company for violating the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act was unconstitutionally excessive. The Court adopted the standard articulated in *Bajakajian* noting that it would only find a violation of the Excessive Fines Clause if the penalty was “grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant’s offense.” *Ortho-Mcneil-Janssen Pharm.*, 414 S.C. at 88, 777 S.E.2d at 205. Because the Court had already ruled that the \$327 million penalty be remitted to \$124 million, it analyzed the constitutional question based on the reduced fine. The