RECEIVED

May 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001652

South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs Respondent,

v.

Lavisha Green Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kelly H. Rainsford (Bar No. 15907)
James C. Copeland (Bar No. 100054)
Zachary A. Passmore (Bar No. 100203)
South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs
293 Greystone Blvd., Suite 400
Columbia, SC 29210
krainsford@scconsumer.gov
jcopeland@scconsumer.gov
zpassmore@scconsumer.gov

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The Court discussed the case of White v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Ctrl, 392 S.C. 247, 708 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 2011), acknowledging the distinction between Rule 203(b)(1) and 203(b)(6), SCACR, and concluded, “when determining whether the service of a notice of appeal from the ALC is timely, the court is concerned with the date the party actually *receives the decision*,

⁶ In addition to the court emailing the final decision to the parties on August 2, the administrative law judge’s clerk also mailed Ms. Green a copy of the order to the address provided to the ALC. R. p. 92. SCALC Rule 5 provides, “Service is deemed complete upon mailing. Service that complies with Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCF, also shall satisfy this Rule.” Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCF, also provides, “Service by mail is complete upon mailing of all pleadings and papers subsequent to service of the original summons and complaint.”

not the date the party receives the written notice that an order or judgment has been entered.” Id. (emphasis added). The Court also agreed with the White decision in that Rule 203(b)(1) and Rule 203(b)(6) require the receipt of different things to trigger the time to appeal but explained that “does not necessarily mean the manner in which a party receives those things must differ in order to trigger the time to appeal.” Wells Fargo, 422 S.C. at 218–219, 810 S.E.2d at 860. The Court ultimately overruled the Court of Appeals’ decision in White “to the extent it...interprets ‘receipt of the decision’ to require receipt of the decision by mail or hand delivery in order to trigger the time to appeal under Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR.” Id. at 219, 810 S.E.2d at 860. Thus, since 2018, case law has established that receipt of the ALC decision by email, if sent from the court, an attorney of record, or a party, triggers the time to serve a notice of appeal under Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR.

Further, this Court has grappled with cases where litigants have maintained that the timestamp on the email message is not always the starting point because the timestamp does not conclusively determine the date a party received the email. See Lemmons v. Maced. Water Works, Inc., 431 S.C. 186, 847 S.E.2d 471 (Ct. App. 2020). Here, Ms. Green asserts she did not receive the court’s email with the final decision until August 27, 2024. The Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, however, provides:

Unless otherwise agreed between a sender and the recipient, an electronic record is received when it: (1) enters an information processing system that the recipient has designated or uses for the purpose of receiving electronic records or information of the type sent from which the recipient is able to retrieve the electronic record; and (2) is in a form capable of being processed by that system.

S.C. Code Ann. § 26-6-150(B).

Ms. Green maintains the Lemmons case rejected the same argument the Department is now making. This is incorrect. The Lemmons court acknowledged that as of 2020, “the question of

whether the email's timestamp can be presumed to be the date of a party's receipt of the notice has not yet been addressed by our appellate courts.” 431 S.C. at 194, 847 S.E.2d at 476. As such, the Lemmons court “look[ed] to the Record on Appeal to determine the date of receipt of the circuit court's e-mail notice according to the standards of section 26-6-150 (B)” of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Id. Because there was no record establishing the date the court's email notice entered counsel's server, the court rejected the Utility's argument that the customer did not timely invoke the Court of Appeals' appellate jurisdiction. Id. The facts and circumstances of the Lemmons case are materially different from those of Ms. Green's, but the same logic and analysis applies.

In this case, Ms. Green provided the ALC with the email address used and the order was in a PDF format which is easily read by most devices in use today. Moreover, Ms. Green was able to open the email and view the decision as evidenced by her August 28 email acknowledging receipt of the decision. R. pp. 92–94. The ALC emailed the decision to the parties on August 2. Thus, Ms. Green received the decision via email on August 2 even if she was not aware she had received it until August 27. See S.C. Code Ann. § 26-6-150(E) (“An electronic record is received pursuant to subsection (B) even if an individual is not aware of its receipt”). Furthermore, the ALC mailed a copy of the final order via the United States Postal Service at the mailing address provided by Ms. Green. R. p. 80; p. 92. Though Ms. Green swears she did not receive the August 2 email until August 27 and she never received a hard copy of the order that was mailed to her by the court, she has not provided any cogent explanation – technical or otherwise – how two reasonably reliable sources of transmission failed simultaneously. No evidence has been provided that her email account was inaccessible or inoperable for the period between August 2 and 27. She also has not provided confirmation in the form of screenshots or other records of her email inbox to confirm

she actually received the email from the ALC on August 27, 2024, as opposed to a date and time closer to August 2, 2024, 11:04 AM. She also did not provide any indication that the attached order was inaccessible or unreadable for some period of time prior to August 27.

There is nothing in the record establishing any reason that would explain a complete failure of two reasonably reliable methods of communication. Therefore, with the information before this Court now, as it envisioned in Lemmons, there is more than enough to establish that Ms. Green received the ALC's final order on August 2 even if she did not see it until August 27, 2024. Unfortunately, that is not a sufficient excuse to relieve her of the duty to adhere to well-established court rules. Thus, contrary to what Ms. Green argues, the Department is not asking this Court to fundamentally alter Rule 203(b)(6). In fact, the Department's position is consistent with the application of Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR and established case law since 2018 and 2020. In conclusion, this appeal should be dismissed because Ms. Green did not file the Notice of Appeal until September 25, 2024, fifty-four days after the parties received the ALC's final decision.

b. Ms. Green failed to file a mandatory motion for reconsideration with the ALC prior to filing her Notice of Appeal.

Effective April 8, 2024, Rule 29, which applies to contested case hearings at the ALC, provides “*prior to* filing a notice of appeal from the [ALC] decision, a party must file a motion for reconsideration.” SCALC Rule 29(D)(4) (2024) (emphasis added). Since 2019, the Revised Notes to SCALC Rule 29 have explained, “[i]n accordance with applicable case law on issue preservation, the last sentence of subsection (D), which stated a motion for reconsideration is not a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal, has been deleted.” Thus, in order to preserve an issue for review by this Court, an appellant must have raised that issue in a timely motion for reconsideration as contemplated by SCALC Rule 29.

Though Rule 29 as written was effective recently, the requirement to file a motion for reconsideration is not new. In 2016, SCALC Rule 29(D)(4) included a sentence providing, “The filing of a motion for reconsideration is not a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal from a final decision of an administrative law judge.”⁷ This sentence, however, was removed when the ALC published its revised rules in 2019.⁸ Since 2019, the Revised Notes for the rule have contained the explanation regarding the deletion of the previous statement.

Rule 29 is published on the ALC’s official website, which is accessible to the public, including Ms. Green. Also included is an explanation from the court that notable changes for 2024 include “amending Rule 29 to *clarify* that in contested cases, a motion for reconsideration is required prior to filing a notice of appeal.”⁹

In this case, Ms. Green did not file a motion for reconsideration at the ALC. By failing to file a motion for reconsideration, Ms. Green has not preserved any issues for this Court to review on appeal in this matter. See S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles v. Dover, 423 S.C. 153, 160 n3, 813 S.E.2d 532, 535 n3 (Ct. App. 2018) (citing Risher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 293 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E.2d 428, 422 (2011) (appellant’s failure to file a motion for reconsideration or motion to alter or amend pursuant to SCALC Rules 29 or 68 (or Rules 59(e) or 60, SCRCPP) renders issues unpreserved for appellate review)). The Department will more fully address Ms. Green’s additional issue preservation deficiencies *infra*.

c. Ms. Green failed to preserve any issues for consideration by this Court.

The Court lacks appellate jurisdiction in this matter as Ms. Green failed to preserve any matters for appeal of the ALC decision. During the hearing, the only objections she made were to

⁷ <https://www.scalc.net/Rules%20documents/officialrules2016.pdf>, accessed on Dec. 3, 2024.

⁸ <https://www.scalc.net/Rules%20documents/officialrules2019.pdf>, accessed on Dec. 3, 2024.

⁹ <https://www.scalc.net/rules.aspx?faqs=>, accessed on Feb. 13, 2025.

the admission of certain Department exhibits based on their relevancy to the matter. Her objections were overruled, and the exhibits were entered into the record. At no time during the hearing, nor in any of her filings with the ALC, did Ms. Green put forth with the broadest of interpretation an argument that the fine was unconstitutional in violation of the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause. Issues not raised to and ruled on by the ALJ are not preserved for appellate consideration. Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002).

In Dorman v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 350 S.C. 159, 565 S.E.2d 119 (Ct. App. 2002), neighbors challenged a homeowner's permit to build a boat dock on her property. On appeal from the initial hearing granting the permit, the petitioners argued the granting constituted a regulatory taking and presented due process and equal protection claims before the Court. None of these arguments were made before the ALC. This Court determined that while the ALC can rule on as-applied constitutional challenges, "[because] none of these constitutional arguments were presented to the ALJ, they are not preserved for appellate review and thus are not properly before us." Id. at 171, 565 S.E.2d at 125. The homeowner in Dorman argued she made repeated requests for equal treatment at every level; however, this Court found those requests insufficient. "The legal theory on which she seeks to prevail must be raised and ruled upon by the ALJ." Id.

Similarly, Ms. Green at the hearing before the ALJ did not articulate to any degree of specificity the argument that the administrative fine imposed upon her company violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. The only reference she made to the amount of the fine was that she believed the fine was "unfair". R. p. 39, l. 25. Even under the broadest level of interpretation, she cannot reasonably argue now that this statement is sufficient for the ALJ to have understood that she was making a constitutional claim. Courts do allow pro se litigants a

degree of lenience in matters such as pleadings and specificity for grounds of objections that would not be allowed for parties represented by counsel. Elijah v. Dunbar, 66 F.4th 454, 460 (4th Cir. 2023). However, this lenience does not extend to the substantive or procedural requirements of the law. See State v. Burton, 356 S.C. 259, 265 n. 5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 n.5 (2003); State v. Policao, 402 S.C. 547, 558, 741 S.E.2d 774, 779–80 (Ct. App. 2013); State v. Bryant, 383 S.C. 410, 418, 680 S.E.2d 11, 15 (Ct. App. 2009). Furthermore, Ms. Green never obtained a ruling on this issue, even though she could have attempted to do so by filing a motion for reconsideration. Constitutional arguments are no exception to the error preservation rule. Travelscape, LLC v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 391 S.C. 89, 110, 705 S.E.2d 28, 39 (2011) (citing State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 42, 501 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1998)).

In furtherance of the argument that Ms. Green’s statements at the ALC hearing unmistakably conveyed a constitutional as-applied challenge to the fine, she cites State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). However, that case can be distinguished from this one. Russell moved for a directed verdict at the trial court, arguing the State failed to establish the *corpus delicti* of his DUI charge, though he did not use the precise legal term when putting forth his argument. This Court found that the argument was raised to the trial court and was preserved for appellate review. However, the Court came to this conclusion because there was sufficient information in the record to demonstrate the theory behind Russell’s argument was understood – the State, in its opposing motion, used the words “*corpus delicti*” and cited the relevant case law. See id. at 132, 546 S.E.2d at 204.¹⁰ In this case, Ms. Green’s only reference to the amount of the fine was that it was “unfair”. R. p. 39, l. 25. It is not clear from the record either that her intent in

¹⁰ Though the Court found that Russell preserved this issue for appellate review, it rejected his argument, finding the State provided sufficient independent evidence to corroborate Russell’s extrajudicial statements. See id. at 133.

stating the fine was unfair equated any constitutional argument, let alone an Eighth Amendment claim, or that the ALJ understood this statement to purport as such.

Interestingly, the Court's decision in Russell supports the Department's argument that Ms. Green did not raise *any* claims at the ALC that are preserved for appellate review. A second argument Russell made to the Court was that his extrajudicial statements to police at the time he was arrested should not have been admitted because, under the circumstances, they were inherently untrustworthy. The State argued, and this Court agreed, that this argument was not preserved because "[the] issue was not raised to the trial judge, nor was it ruled upon. Issues not raised to and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. A party cannot argue one ground for an objection at trial and an alternative ground on appeal." Id. at 133, 546 S.E.2d at 205. (internal citations omitted).

Ms. Green also cites the case of State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010) to support her claim that the ALJ should have understood her sole statement that the fine was unfair because of when she received the final notice as her properly arguing that the fine was excessive and in violation of her constitutional rights. Although the Court in Brannon did hold that error preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review, it simply cannot be said that Ms. Green met that test. In Brannon, the Court said Mr. Brannon fairly raised a Fourth Amendment challenge when he argued at trial that an arrest was not being made when he ran from police. See State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 596 (Ct. App. 2001). Compare all of the statements made and evidence presented in Brannon's trial to Ms. Green's sole claim that the fine was unfair because of when she received the final notice. R. p. 39, ll. 22–25. Clearly, Ms. Green did not sufficiently raise the issue as it was raised in Brannon.

Another illustrative case is Carson v. Dep't of Natural Res., 371 S.C. 114, 638 S.E.2d 45 (2002). There, Carson, an officer with the Department of Natural Resources, challenged the termination of his employment for insubordination related to an incident four years prior where roofing tacks were thrown onto the driveway of his superior, causing damage to the superior's personal and state vehicles. After some time, evidence was discovered that indicated Carson was involved. The State Employee Grievance Committee determined the superior met with all DNR officers twice, before and after the incident, emphasizing the need for integrity and truthfulness and warned the officers that lying would jeopardize their jobs. Carson's subsequent claims during the internal investigation of the incident were determined to be false and insubordinate, defying the superior's previous order to be truthful. The Grievance Committee upheld the termination, which was overturned by this Court. Carson, 371 S.C. at 116–17, 638 S.E.2d at 46. The Supreme Court granted a writ of certiorari and reversed. Id. at 123, 638 S.E.2d at 49.

On appeal, Carson argued the Grievance Committee denied him due process because 1) the charges were vague and four years old, 2) DNR's procedure shifted the burden of proof to him, and 3) the Committee refused to hear from his character witnesses and limited the examination of other witnesses. Id. at 120, 638 S.E.2d at 48. Before the Grievance Committee, Russell commented that it was difficult to defend against an incident that occurred years prior and, in passing, mentioned that the burden of proof appeared to be on the employee. In the Court's determination, Carson never claimed these difficulties amounted to a violation of procedural due process, nor did he ever ask for or obtain a ruling on these claims. Accordingly, these issues were not preserved for review.¹¹ Id.

¹¹ The Supreme Court also determined that Carson failed to preserve his third claim that the Committee refused to hear his character witnesses because he failed to proffer the character witnesses and excluded

II. The ALJ was correct in upholding the Department’s imposition of a fine in this case because Ms. Green did not present any evidence at trial to show the fine was unconstitutional as applied to Fab Seven LLC.

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